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City of St. Louis 3D Digital Twin - Request for Proposals - Questions and Answers 

 

1. I wondered if you had a list of primes that we could reach out to about supporting the work 

as a subcontractor.  

 

No, but the following organizations have indicated interest in this project or responded with 

questions regarding this RFP: 

• Urban GIS 

• CycloMedia 

• ESRI 

• Deloitte 

• St. Louis University 

• University of Southern Illinois Edwardsville 

• Aeirialsync 

• Continental Mapping 

• Xeo Air 

 

Specific contact information cannot be provided. 

 

2. Can a shapefile containing City Centerlines and alleyways be provided? 

 

Yes, as well as any other map data the City has; however, neither SLDC nor the City will 

guarantee the accuracy.  The contractor is responsible for the accuracy of all deliverables; thus, 

may want to consider multiple open sources of data. 

 

3. Approximate number of buildings in the City of St. Louis? 

 

Authoritatively unknown, which is one of the reasons behind this effort. 

 

4. What level of detail are you asking for the Buildings? 

 

As complete as possible building roofs and facades; level of detail is an item SLDC will be 

looking at in the proposals.  Hence, respondents should propose a level of detail adequate to 

meet the outcomes included in the first section of the RFP, including enough detail to support 

civil engineering projects. 

 

5. If using street level imagery collected from right away, what is the expectation of collection 

for areas that may be obstructed or not visible from right of way (including alleyways)? 

 

The digital twin is from the right of way.  The right of way includes streets, alleys, sidewalks, and 

any public land.  SLDC understands that not all structures may be accessible; however, 
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proposals should include a method for data collection that would be as thorough as possible.  

Methods of data collection and ensuring the 3D map includes as much of the City as possible is 

an evaluation criteria. 

 

6. RFP pg. 4 states the Contractor shall process all data collected and, at minimum, extract the 

following features.  Can you specify the definition on minimum extraction? 

 

Minimum extraction refers to the minimum types of items (features) we would want extracted 

(identified) from the raw data. 

 

7. What attributes are to be provided for assets including poles, streetlights, traffic light poles? 

(ex: pole materials) 

 

This will be identified in partnership with the successful respondent. 

 

8. Can you provide examples of decorative items in, and directly adjacent to, right-of-way that 

would need to be collected? 

 

Some examples include: 

• decorative pedestrian light poles 

• large planters 

• bike racks 

• etc. 

 

Types and detail for decorative items will be identified in partnership with the successful 

respondent. 

 

9. Are there specific items that need to be reported on to document good faith efforts to reach 

the M/WBE goal? 

 

How good faith efforts will be documented will be identified in partnership with the successful 

respondent. 

 

10. Sections III and IV of the outline to respond to seem to be the same or similar.  Can SLDC 

elaborate upon the difference in these two sections?  Section III asks for “detailed cost 

proposal and with justification,” and Section IV asks for “Options including pricing for each 

option and any differences in data collection, processing, and delivery associated with each 

option.” 
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Section III asks for the detailed cost and justification for the first round of data collection that 

creates the baseline twin.  Section IV contains options for refreshing data and asks for the costs 

of each option listed. 

 

11. Does the one-page per organization limit for item #2 in the outline on page 8 of the RFP 

apply to experiences and references for the entire section (including information/background 

of respondent, list of customers with description of services and pictures/screenshots)?  Or 

does the one-page limit only apply to information and background of the respondent? 

 

The one-page limit is for information and background on each organization (one page per) 

included in the response.  List of customers is not included.  The response should provide the 

requested scope of services, and the description of those services should be included where 

appropriate in the response.  That said, response should be clear and concise in order to 

ensure evaluators do not miss critical information that is buried in an overly lengthy response. 

 

12. Has the money been allocated for this project? 

 

No.  This effort is being undertaken collaboratively by the members of the equitable 

infrastructure growth program (EIG).  Each member of the EIG will have the option to assist with 

the evaluation of responses and then determine whether to participate in this project.  Cost will 

be shared among the participating members.  However, the EIG needs costs and detailed 

proposals to support final decision making. 

 

13. If the money has been allocated, what is the breakdown for Phase 1, 2, and 3? 

 

Allocations will be made based on proposals. 

 

14. There is a lot of gray area when it comes to drones.  What percent of the flying would you 

want to be using LiDAR? 

 

This is for the respondent to determine and propose if the respondent includes drones in its 

collection methods. 

 

15. How many drones’ teams do you wish to be flying at once? 

 

This is for the respondent to determine and propose if the respondent includes drones in its 

collection methods. 

 

16. Will there be places where we need to get waivers for flying?  That process could take 

months, and we need to know well in advance to apply to FAA. 
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Authoritatively unknown; however, SLDC, via the City’s Chief Technology Officer or other 

designee, will work with the successful respondent to obtain any additional approvals that 

cannot be provided by the City. 

 

17. Will you be wanting the small robots for tunnels? 

 

Data collection methods should be included in responses.  The creation of the 3D digital twin, 

methods of data collection and accuracy should be included in the responses.  That said, while 

cost sensitive, the City’s Chief Technology Officer (CTO) strongly encourages respondents to 

be innovative in data collection to ensure the most thorough and accurate twin possible, based 

on current technology.  Furthermore, to the maximum extent allowed by law, the City’s CTO will 

fully support innovative data collection methods. 

 

18. We were confused by the way written on technical requirements.  It seems the way it reads 

you already know who is doing the work; is there a company we would be reporting to? 

 

Who will do the work has NOT been identified.  Some preliminary prototyping was conducted 

using our existing geospatial platform (ArcGIS) with the assistance of ESRI.  However, this was 

based on old aerial data.  This effort is to create a true current digital twin with respondent 

supported options for keeping the twin current. 

 

19. Are we to understand you want to build this open source that the City designs? 

 

No, the EIG wants to ensure the resulting products support use by open source tools based on 

open standards. 

 

20. What is the plan for security? 

 

This will be determined in partnership between the EIG members that choose to participate and 

the selected respondent. 

 

21. Will everyone be able to access everything, or will there be security levels that should be 

built in? 

 

There will need to be security levels; however, the respondent’s responsibility will be to ensure 

access to the data collected and processed data is restricted to individuals identified by the 

participating members of the EIG.  SLDC, through the City’s CTO, will be responsible for 

providing an authoritative access list to the successful respondent and maintaining the list. 
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22. Do SLDC and/or the City of St. Louis CTO Office have plans to expand the digital twin 

beyond a static data library and into a true digital twin capable of simulating the impacts of 

changes to City infrastructure, policy, and land use?  If so, can you describe how the 

requested data library would novate into a digital twin?  

 

Yes, the RFP is for a 3D digital twin.  SLDC and the City’s CTO would look to the responses to 

answer the second part of this question. 

 

23.  I noticed that an ESRI ArcGIS program was included as the existing functional prototype for 

the digital twin; yet the RFP on page six states that "responses wherein access, 

visualization, or manipulation of the raw data and/or resulting digital twin requires the use of 

a proprietary platform or software only will not be accepted."  Could you clarify the 

"proprietary platform or software only" statement in the RFP? 

 

For the purposes of this project, a “proprietary platform or software only” means the following: 

• a platform or tools specific to the respondent wherein other tools cannot be used or 

integrated without additional cost 

• access would require an ongoing subscription or other type of continuous payment 

structure for accessing, visualizing, etc. the products developed under this RFP. 

 

While it is true most members of the EIG that may choose to participate use ArcGIS, some do 

not, and some use a combination of mapping platforms.  The intent is that the twin can be used 

by ArcGIS and any other mapping platform that also supports the use of open standards.  

Additionally, this effort is for services to create and options to refresh the digital twin.  Proposals 

that contain any cost structure or licenses that place any limitations on use or dissemination of 

data and resulting products or require any kind of recurring fees outside of the refresh options 

will not be accepted. 

 

24. Would you consider proprietary software solutions which could integrate in suite of tools?  

 

See answer to question 23; however, the EIG would not expect to have to pay for said 

integrations. 

 

25. Are members of the EIG eligible to bid on this RFP? 

 

Yes; however, if a member was to respond, it would be ineligible to participate in any response 

reviews or any other part of the selection process. 

 

26. How/when will EIG members be asked to participate in this project? 
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Once proposals are received, a respondent is selected, and costs are known, members of the 

EIG will have the option to officially opt in or out of this project.  Costs will be split between the 

participating members that opt in. 

 

27. What benefits will an EIG member realize for participating in this project? 

 

This question is internal to the EIG membership and should not influence responses. 

 

28. If no EIG members chose to participate, will the City/SLDC fund the project, or will the 

project be cancelled? 

 

It depends on cost and the nature of the responses.  The City and or SLDC may or may not 

decide to proceed on their own. 

 

29. Who will the Consultant sign a contract with?  SLDC?  The City?  Each of the EIG members 

who chose to participate? 

 

SLDC 

 

30. Will the SLDC/City monitor the project to ensure that the Consultant receives payment from 

each participating EIG member? 

 

This project may use one of two models.  The first is that each participating member provides its 

portion of funding to SLDC, and SLDC pays the consultant.  The second more likely option is 

that the consultant bills each participating member directly. 

 

31. Who will sign off on final deliverables?  The SLDC/City, or the paying EIG member? 

 

The City’s CTO or designee will provide final sign offs on all deliverables, once he or she has 

confirmation from each participating member of the EIG. 

 

32. Is the expectation that one company execute the entire project?  If not, can one company, 

such as ours, work on the aerial aspect.  

 

SLDC will accept partial responses in compliance with the instructions in the RFP.  That said, 

partnerships between respondents that may not be able to provide the full scope of services are 

encouraged. 

 

33. Some of the drone language is outside of FAA regulations.  Is it the expectation of the 

chosen company to fill in those gaps to ensure proper flight within FAA rules? 
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Yes, and the City’s CTO will support filling in the gaps as long as no laws or regulations are 

broken. 

 

34. When is the project to be completed? 

 

This will be negotiated based on the timelines identified in the responses. 

 

FINAL NOTE: 

 

Numerous questions relate to the quality and fidelity of the 3D Digital twin.  To the largest 

extent practical, the twin should be accurate and detailed enough for any member of the 

EIG to use for civil project engineering such as capital improvement efforts, City 

planning, etc.   

 

METHODS, QUALITY, and ACCURACY, ETC., MUST BE INCLUDED IN RESPONSES. 


